RECEIVED

Oct 09 2023

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Trial Court Judge

Civil Action No.: 2009-CP-37-0652

Appellate Case No. 2022-001581

Paul W. Hund, III, Joan W. Davenport, Michael Furnari, Donna Furnari, Jessy B. Grasso, Nancy E. Grasso, Robert P. Hayes, Lucy H. Hayes, Ty Hix, Jennifer D. Hix, Ruth E. Isaac, Michael D. Plourde, Mary Lou Plourde, Carol C. Pope, Steven B. Taylor, Bette J. Taylor, Robert White, Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Association, Inc., Respondents

v.

IMK Development Co., LLC, Marick Home Builders, LLC, and Rick Thoennes, Defendants,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Trial Court commit errors of law by failing to enforce the terms of the Settlement Agreement and Release of Judgment Lien as to Rick Thoennes Only?
2. Did the trial Court commit an error of law by failing to rule on the amount of set off to which Appellant Marick was entitled?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was originally tried to jury verdict in Oconee County in November of 2013. Multiple appeals were taken by multiple parties, including both Appellants and Respondents. During the pendency of the appeals, Respondent and Appellants entered a Settlement Agreement. As a result of the terms of the Settlement Agreement, Respondent filed a Release of Judgment Lien as to Rick Thoennes Only in the Oconee County Court of Common Pleas on October 31, 2016.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina issued its opinion, *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n v. IMK Dev. Co., LLC* 435 S.C. 109, 866 S.E.2d 542 (2021), on December 8, 2021. Thereafter, the Respondent filed its Motion for Entry of Judgment on April 27, 2022. On June 1, 2022, a "CP Hearing Sheet" was filed in this case, indicating that judgment would be entered as directed by the Supreme Court. Judge Lawton McIntosh issued an Order of Judgment as to Bostic Brothers Construction, Inc., Marick Home Builders, LLC, and Rick Thoennes on June 2, 2022, though it appears it was not filed electronically until June 24, 2022. The Appellants filed their Petition for Post Judgment Settlement on June 10, 2022, seeking to enforce the terms of the Settlement Agreement. Judge McIntosh ultimately heard the Motion on September 16, 2022, and issued a Form 4 Order denying the relief sought on September 21, 2022. A Motion for Reconsideration was filed September 29, 2022, seeking rulings on specific issues. The Motion

was denied via a second Form 4 Order on October 10, 2022, without a formal hearing or additional briefing. The Notice of Appeal was then filed on November 8, 2022.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Petition for Post Judgment Settlement was filed pursuant to Rules 59 and 60 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, and therefore essentially amounted to a motion to enforce a settlement. “Whether to grant or deny a motion under Rule 60(b) [, SCRCPP], lies within the sound discretion of the judge. Our standard of review therefore is limited to determining whether there was an abuse of discretion.” *May v. May*, 428 S.C. 131, 136 833 S.E.2d 78, 80 citing *Raby Constr., L.L.P. v. Orr*, 358 S.C. 10, 17-18, 594 S.E.2d 478, 482 (2004) (citation omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” *Historic Charleston Holdings, LLC v. Mallon*, 381 S.C. 417, 434, 673 S.E.2d 448, 457 (2009).

“In South Carolina jurisprudence, settlement agreements are viewed as contracts.” *Kinghorn v. Sakakini*, 426 S.C. 147, 151, 825 S.E.2d 748, 749 (Ct.App. 2019) citing *Pee Dee Stores, Inc. v. Doyle*, 381 S.C. 234, 241, 672 S.E.2d 799, 802 (Ct.App. 2009). “An action to construe a contract is an action at law.” *Kinghorn*, citing *Byrd v. Livingston*, 398 S.C. 247, 241, 727 S.E.2d 620, 622 (Ct.App. 2012). “In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the judge’s findings will not be disturbed unless they are without evidentiary support.” *Id.* “However, this court is free to decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Id.* Therefore, this Court should review this case de novo. (See *Town of Summerville v. City of North Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 662 S.E.2d 40 (2008)).

FACTS

This matter was tried in Oconee County in November of 2013, after which multiple appeals and cross appeals were filed by various parties regarding various trial issues. Two of the issues Appellants raised in their appeals were whether Marick was responsible for the breach of fiduciary duty verdict (which was rendered against Thoennes only) and then the amount of set-off to which Marick and Thoennes were entitled for any verdict rendered against either party. At the same time the appeals were pending before the Court of Appeals, the parties were also litigating coverage actions in the United States District Court for the Fourth Circuit.

During the pendency of the initial appeals, Respondent and Appellants entered a Settlement Agreement (hereinafter referred to as “Agreement”)¹, improperly identified by Respondent as “Phase II Agreed Upon Judgment” (see R., p. 150). Thereafter, Respondent filed the Release of Judgment Lien as to Rick Thoennes Only with the Oconee County Court of Common Pleas on October 31, 2016 (hereinafter “Release of Lien”) (R., pp. 214-215). Ultimately, this Court issued its opinion, *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners’ Ass’n v. IMK Dev. Co., LLC* 435 S.C. 109, 866 S.E.2d 542 (2021), wherein it determined (among other issues) that the allocation of the jury’s verdict among the various causes of action, as well as the set off, required correction. The Supreme Court was cognizant that other settlements may have occurred during the pendency of the appeal, and of which it was unaware, and therefore remitted the matter to the Trial Court, with instructions to enter the corrected judgments (“These figures do not take into account the HOA’s monetary settlements (if any) with IMK, IK, Cox and Lollis during the pendency of this appeal.”

¹ This Settlement Agreement was drafted by Respondent’s counsel, coverage counsel on behalf of Marick’s insurance carriers, and approved by personal counsel for Mr. Thoennes.

Id., at 138, S.E.2d at 558). The Trial Court, recognizing that the remittitur’s directive was for “final calculation and entry of judgment consistent with our opinion” (see *Id.*), sent correspondence to then-counsel for Appellants and Respondent stating that Trial Court understood the issue was “simply one of mathematics” and requested the parties to confer and advise whether there was an agreement or whether a hearing was needed (R. pp. 145-146). Appellants and Respondent were unable to reach an agreement on the language of an order, and Respondent filed its Motion for Entry of Judgment on April 27, 2022 (R., p.20). Appellants’ counsel provided their position to Judge McIntosh via correspondence on May 2, 2022, and requested a hearing on Respondents’ Motion (R., pp. 205-206). On June 24, 2022, Judge McIntosh filed the Order of Judgment as to Bostic Brothers Construction, Inc., Marick Home Builders, LLC, and Rick Thoennes. That Order indicates that the judgments were entered retroactively to November 8, 2013, and further that the judgment as to Thoennes may be subject to set-off or release (R., pp. 4-6). Notably, the Order of Judgment regarding breach of fiduciary duty was entered against Thoennes only R., p.5). Thereafter, Appellants filed their Motion for Post-Judgment Settlement on June 10, 2022 (R., p. 84), seeking recognition by the Trial Court that the judgment against Thoennes had already been released by Release of Lien filed October 31, 2016 (R., pp. 143-144). As discussed below, the Trial Court denied the requested relief, as well as the subsequent Motion to Alter, Amend and/or Reconsider. This Appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

Appellants assert the Trial Court’s orders denying Appellants’ Petition for Post Judgment Settlement and its Motion to Alter, Amend and/or Reconsider were controlled by errors of law. Specifically, Appellants maintain that the Trial Court erred in not construing both the Agreement

and Release of Judgment Lien in accordance with the documents' clear language. As a result, Appellants are entitled to a reversal of the Trial Court's denial of the requested relief and a finding that the previously entered judgment has been released or otherwise satisfied, consistent with the filed Release of Judgment Lien. Additionally, the Trial Court committed legal error in not ruling on the amount of setoff to which Marick was entitled.

I. The Trial Court committed errors of law by failing to enforce the terms of the Settlement Agreement and Release of Judgment Lien as to Rick Thoennes Only

A. The Agreement and Release of Lien are Clear and Unambiguous, and the Trial Court Committed Error in Failing to Enforce the Terms of Each

Appellants maintain that both the Agreement and Release of Lien were clear and unambiguous, and that the documents released Thoennes and satisfied the judgment lien against Thoennes with respect to Phase I. The Trial Court committed clear legal error in failing to enforce the terms of both documents, which amounts to an error of law.

“Where an agreement is clear on its face and unambiguous, the court’s only function is to interpret its lawful meaning and the intent of the parties as found within the contract.” (*Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C.568, 577, 762 S.E.2d 696, 700 (2014) (quoting *Miles v. Miles*, 393 S.C. 111, 117, 711 S.E.2d 880, 883 (2011)). (See also *Messer v. Messer*, 359 S.C.614, 598 S.E.2d 310, 317 (Ct.App.2004)). “Interpretation of a contract is governed by the objective manifestation of the parties’ assent at the time the contract was made rather than the subjective, after-the-fact meaning one party assigns to it.” (*N.Am. Rescue Prods., Inc. v. Richardson*, 411 S.C. 371, 378, 769 S.E.2d 237, 241 (2015), further citations omitted). “In the enforcement of an agreement, the court does not have the authority to modify terms that are clear and unambiguous on their face.” (*Messer*, at 621, 598 S.E.2d at 314, further citations omitted.)

The relevant language from the Agreement is quoted below:

“...WHEREAS, In anticipation of the trial of Phase II against the Defendants, the Parties have agreed to compromise certain aspects of this claim in the form of a stipulation of damages, as more fully set below, **and to release certain obligations of Rick Thoennes altogether.**

...

Scope of this Settlement Agreement. This Settlement Agreement, unless otherwise noted, only applies to the resolution of all acclaims asserted by Plaintiff against Defendant arising out of Phase II. **Nothing in this Settlement Agreement, except to the extent expressly stated herein, will affect the Phase I Judgment or the appeal from that judgment taken by the Defendants.**

...

2. The Plaintiff and Insurers agree to proceed with a declaratory judgment action for a determination of coverage under the policies issued by Cincinnati and Builders Mutual referenced above...This is not intended to be and does not limit the right of Plaintiff to also pursue recovery of sums related to the Phase I judgment, except as expressly provided for herein, **and subject to Defendants’ appeal of the Phase I Judgment.**

....

4. Furthermore, in consideration of the above-referenced stipulation of damages, the Parties also agree:

- a. **The appeal of the Phase I Judgment against Marick and others will continue at the discretion of appellants and their appeals. Plaintiff and Insurers reserve their rights to contest coverage for any final judgment that may result as to Phase I.**
- b. **The only effect this Settlement Agreement will have on the Phase I Judgment is that Plaintiff will release the judgment obtained against Thoennes in regard to Phase I.**

...

5. Entire Agreement. The Parties agree that no promise or inducement has been offered with respect to this Settlement Agreement, the Underlying Lawsuit, or the judgments arising out of Phase I and **further acknowledge that this Settlement Agreement is executed without reliance on any statement or representation by any Party or their representatives or their attorneys concerning the nature and extent of the damages and/or coverage that may be applicable. The Parties have relied wholly upon their own judgment, after consultation with counsel, and have not relied upon any representation or inducement not contained herein.**

...

7. Attorney’s Fees and Costs. The parties acknowledge that and agree that they shall bear all of their own attorney’s fees, costs and expenses in connection with **the claims released herein** and/or the continuation of the declaratory judgment action between the Plaintiff and the Insurers.

8. Understanding and Severability. The Parties hereby declare that the terms of this Settlement Agreement have been completely read, fully understood and voluntarily accepted for the purpose of making a compromise stipulation of damages in full resolution of Phase II of the Underlying Lawsuit and such additional resolution of the

claims and other issues above mentioned. If any provision, or any part of any provision of this Settlement Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, unenforceable or contrary to public policy or any law, then the remainder of the Settlement Agreement shall not be affected thereby.” (R., pp. 137, 139, 140, 141) (**Emphasis added**)

The Release of Lien, filed by Respondent on October 31, 2016, while the appeal was pending, reads as follows:

“STONELEDGE AT LAKE KEOWEE OWNERS’ ASSOCIATION, INC., (Stoneledge HOA”) holder of a judgment lien against RICK THOENNES, which was entered against him in Case No. 2009-CP-37-0652, in the Trial Court of Oconee County, said judgment lien being recorded on November 8, 2013 as Judgment Roll No. 2009-CP-37-0652 and amended by Order dated January 21, 2015, **does**, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, **hereby release Rick Thoennes from the judgment lien.**

PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that the judgment shall, in all other respects, be preserved and protected and **that the judgment lien, except as hereby released and discharged as to Rick Thoennes**, shall remain in full force and effect against Bostic Brother Construction, inc., Marick Home Builders, LLC, IMK Development Co., Integrys Keowee Development, LLC, William C. Cox and Larry Lollis.” (R., p. 143) (**Emphasis added**)

Once Respondent filed the document, the judgment was marked satisfied and canceled. In fact, even after the remittitur that corrected the judgment amounts as to various parties, the judgment is still marked as satisfied and canceled (R., p. 202). Appellants submit that both documents plainly and clearly release Thoennes from the Phase I judgment, and required the Trial Court look no further than the four corners of each document.

“It has long been the policy of the court to encourage settlement in lieu of litigation, and courts have usually enforced settlement agreements. There can be no doubt but that the trial court retains inherent jurisdiction and power to enforce agreements entered into in settlement of litigation before that court.” (*Kinghorn v. Sakakini*, 426 S.C. 147, 152, 825 S.E.2d 748, 750 (Ct.App. 2019), citing *Rock Smith Chevrolet, Inc. v. Smith*, 309 S.C. 91, 93, 419 S.E.2d 841, 842 (Ct.App. 1992)). “[T]he Trial Court’s role in determining the actual terms of the settlement

agreement between the parties is similar to the court's role in interpreting the terms of a contract. In interpreting contracts, the court should ascertain and give legal effect to the parties' intentions. Where the language of the contract is clear and unambiguous, the court must construe the contract according to the terms the parties used as understood in their plain, ordinary, and popular sense." (*Patricia Grand Hotel, LLC v. MacGuire Enters.*, 372 S.C. 634 (Ct.App. 2007) (internal citations omitted)).

As indicated, Respondent's counsel and counsel for Marick's insurers authored the Agreement; Appellants' trial counsel was not involved. Upon receipt of the Trial Court's entry of Order of Judgment, Appellants filed the Petition on June 10, 2022, and the hearing was set for September 16, 2022. Respondent filed its Memorandum in Opposition to the Petition on September 14, 2022, at approximately 5:20 pm. At the outset of the hearing, Appellants' then-counsel stated as follows:

“Mr. Imhoff: ...And so, if the Court is not convinced by the arguments and is inclined to either hear more or rule for the plaintiffs, I would ask that they [coverage counsel] be involved in it so they can respond to the allegations.

The Court: Nope. We're gonna have it disposed, disposed of today. If they were gonna argue, they should be here, otherwise it's gonna be done today.” (R., p. 174, lines 19-25).

Undeterred, Appellants' counsel set forth the basic background of the case, provided the Trial Court with the relevant documents (the Agreement and Release of Lien), and requested that (among other relief) the Trial Court confirm that the judgment against Rick Thoennes with respect to Phase I was satisfied, since the remittitur was retroactive to the original judgment that was satisfied on October 31, 2016. Appellants' counsel argued that the documents were clear and unambiguous, and that the Release of Lien was filed in accordance with the Agreement. The

Trial Court, however, determined, with no factual or legal support, that the language was not clear, and rather than Thoennes being released, the documents acted as a covenant:

The Court: Let me ask you this. Under this settlement agreement, as I read it, it looks like the plaintiff has agreed not—for it not to be a judgment lien against Mr. Thoennes. However, it remains in full force and effect against—in all regards otherwise.

Mr. Imhoff: Your Honor, that—that’s not what it says---

The Court: Yes, it is what it says. It’s exactly what it says. In fact, if you look at your Exhibit C, it says release of judgment lien as to Rick Thoennes and it says provided however the judgment shall in all respects be preserved and protected and the judgment lie acceptance hereby released and discharged as to Rick Thoennes shall remain in full force and effect against Bostic Brothers Construction, Inc., Marick Home Construction Builders, LLC, IMK Development Company, Integrys Keowee Development, LLC, William C. Cox and Larry Lollis. How more specific can you be?

Mr. Imhoff: Well, Your Honor, Rick Thoennes isn’t in there. It says it’s dis—released and discharged as to Rick Thoennes---

The Court: No. No.

Mr. Imhoff: ---but shall remain in full force and effect against all the other parties. The judgment we’re seeking to have settled is only against Rick Thoennes. That’s the point. It’s, it’s released against Rick Thoennes and not against any of the other parties and here’s the thing. None of those other parties have that million dollar fiduciary—breach of fiduciary judgment against them. It’s only to Rick and that—

The Court: Well, let me ask you this, Mr. Imhoff. Looking at the Stoneledge I, and, and then the Court—Supreme Court said the amount, million dollars breach of fiduciary duty, not subject to setoff, was against Thoennes. So---

Mr. Imhoff: That’s right.

The Court: ... So, although it’s not a judgment lien as they signed and acknowledged, it doesn’t go as a lien against his personal assets. What else are you asking me to do? Have you paid the money?

Mr. Imhoff: That million dollars, your Honor?

The Court: Yeah.

Mr. Imhoff: No, Your Honor. That—it was released in 2016.

The Court: No, it wasn’t. No, it wasn’t. It was---

Mr. Imhoff: Okay.

The Court: ---as to the judgment lien against Mr. Thoennes but it was not released.

Mr. Imhoff: Yes. But, Your Honor, that's the only thing here we're talking about. It's the judgment for the one million-dollars...

The Court: The only thing they're talking about, Jason, is the fact that it was not gonna be a personal judgment against Mr. Thoennes. But they weren't giving up these monies. That would be ridiculous. Why would they give it up if you haven't paid any money anyway?

Mr. Imhoff: Because that's the problem because they knew it wasn't covered. I don't know. But, Your Honor, in, in the settlement agreement---

The Court: I think your argument's fairly specious, Jason. I'll be quite frank with you. The clear intent of this agreement was that it not work as a judgment against Mr. Thoennes personally. But it remain in full force and effect and you hadn't---and has any money been paid towards it whatsoever?

Mr. Imhoff: I don't, I don't think so, Your Honor.

The Court: Well, then obviously that's not the intent.

Mr. Imhoff: Your, Your Honor---

The Court: There's no way.

Mr. Imhoff: May I say one other thing?

The Court: You certainly may.

Mr. Imhoff: Your Honor, if they wanted to do a covenant not to execute, in other words, have no execution against Mr. Thoennes himself, the could of done that and they did do that in Section D.

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