**RECEIVED**

**Oct 17 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh  
Court of Common Pleas  
Trial Court Case No.: 2009-CP-37-00652

---

Appellate Case No.: 2022-001581

Paul W. Hund, III, Joan W. Davenport, Michael Furnari, Donna Furnari, Jessy B. Grasso, Nancy E. Grasso, Robert P. Hayes, Lucy H. Hayes, Ty Hix, Jennifer D. Hix, Ruth E. Isaac, Michael D. Plourde, Mary Lou Plourde, Carol C. Pope, Steven B. Taylor, Bette J. Taylor, Robert White, Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Association, Inc..... Respondents,

v.

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

In fact, the *Lancaster* case specifically requires the Appellants to have brought the issue to the Lower Courts attention much sooner. Appellants falsely contend that they could not raise the

issue relating to the 2016 Agreement until after the case was remanded. In truth, nothing prevented Appellants from alerting the appellate courts (and the HOA for that matter), that they believed the Thoennes Judgment had been fully released. They cite no law in support of their belief that the Court of Appeals or Supreme Court were unable to here *or even know* of that position.

### **III. Appellants Have Waived any argument they may have with regard to the 2016 Agreement.**

Between 2016 and December 2021, with the release of *Stoneledge*, Appellants never raised any issue regarding the 2016 Agreement, to this Court or the Supreme Court. Yet on June 10, 2022, using Rule 60, *SCRCP*, Appellants asked a Circuit Court to ignore the Supreme Court's *Stoneledge* opinion and not to enter judgment against Thoennes as the Supreme Court had expressly directed. The basis for that opposition to entry of the Thoennes Judgment is the 2016 Agreement. As they had in the Fourth Circuit in May of 2022, Appellants contended, for the first time in any South Carolina Court, that the 2016 Agreement is actually a complete release of the Thoennes Judgment *for all purposes*. Thoennes now appeals the Circuit Court's Order rejecting that argument, directly challenging, in Circuit Court, the Supreme Court's *Stoneledge* ruling.

As discussed below, the argument advanced by the Appellants is without merit. First, the HOA vigorously denies Appellants' characterization of the 2016 Agreement. However, regardless of the merits of the arguments concerning the effect of the 2016 Agreement, the arguments now advanced by Appellants have been unequivocally waived because at no point in the prior appeal, from 2016 through the issuance of the *Stoneledge* Opinion in 2021, did Appellants *ever* argue, in any court, that there was actually no Thoennes Judgment, since it had been released by the 2016 Agreement.

As noted by the Fourth Circuit, legal arguments are waived if not presented to appellate courts. Appellants cannot raise a new argument after a matter is concluded. *See Kiawah Prop.*

*Owners Grp. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of S.C.*, 359 S.C. 105, 113, 597 S.E.2d 145, 149 (2004) (stating a party may not raise an issue for the first time in a motion to reconsider, alter, or amend a judgment that could have been presented prior to judgment). The same rule applies to appellate arguments as well:

An appellant may not use either oral argument or the reply brief as a vehicle to argue issues not argued in the appellant's brief. *See Animal Protection Society of Durham, Inc. v. State of North Carolina*, 95 N.C. App. 258, 382 S.E. (2d) 801 (1989) (a reply brief cannot be used to raise new matters); 5 C.J.S. *Appeal & Error* Sec. 1324(1) at 329 (1958) ("A matter raised for the first time in oral argument or in the reply brief will not be considered by the appellate court."); *cf. Gold Kist, Inc. v. Citizens and Southern National Bank of South Carolina*, 286 S.C. 272, 333 S.E. (2d) 67 (Ct. App. 1985) (exceptions not argued by the appellant in its brief are deemed abandoned on appeal).

*Bochette v. Bochette*, 300 S.C. 109, 112, 386 S.E.2d 475, 477 (Ct. App. 1989). The Supreme Court has declined to abandon this model. "We, therefore, decline to depart from our standard issue preservation rules . . . As Chief Judge Alex Sanders so aptly stated, "Appellate courts, like well-behaved children, do not speak unless spoken to and do not answer questions they are not asked." *State v. Austin*, 306 S.C. 9, 19, 409 S.E.2d 811, 817 (Ct. App. 1991). *Kennedy v. S.C. Ret. Sys.*, 349 S.C. 531, 533, 564 S.E.2d 322, 323 (2001).

Here, Appellants never raised or even mentioned to this Court or the Supreme Court that the Thoennes Judgment, the validity of and amount of which, was a central issue in the pending appeals, did not even exist. To the contrary, after the 2016 Agreement was signed in 2016, counsel for Marick and Thoennes, Jason Imhoff, repeatedly filed briefs and made arguments *on behalf of Mr. Thoennes*. Between 2016, after the 2016 Agreement was signed, and 2021, the Appellants have filed the following in South Carolina appellate courts:

1. Petition for Rehearing of Appellants Marick Home Builders LLC and Rick Thoennes relative to Opinion No. 5600 filed with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on October 25, 2018 (Appellate Case Number 2015-000392);
2. Petition for Certiorari of Appellants Marick Home Builders LLC and Rick Thoennes filed with the South Carolina Supreme Court on January 14, 2019 (Supreme Court Case Number 2019-000038);
3. Motion for Extension of Time on behalf of Marick Home Builders LLC and Rick Thoennes filed with the Supreme Court of South Carolina on August 23, 2019 (Supreme Court Case Number 2019-000038);
4. Brief of Respondents-Petitioners Marick Home Builders LLC and Rick Thoennes filed with the Supreme Court of South Carolina on September 25, 2019 (Supreme Court Case Number 2019-000038);
5. Brief of Respondents Marick Home Builders LLC and Rick Thoennes filed with the Supreme Court of South Carolina on October 9, 2019 (Supreme Court Case Number 2019-000038);
6. Reply Brief of Respondents-Petitioners Marick Home Builders LLC and Rick Thoennes filed with the Supreme Court of South Carolina on November 7, 2019 (Supreme Court Case Number 2019-000038); and
7. Motion to File Out of Time by Marick Home Builders LLC and Rick Thoennes with the Supreme Court of South Carolina on November 14, 2019 (Supreme Court Case Number 2019-000038).

At oral argument before this Court in December of 2017, and in the Supreme Court, counsel for Thoennes expressly recognized that he represented Thoennes and that Thoennes had a

judgment against him. (Video of oral argument is located at <https://media.sccourts.org/videos/2019-000041.mp4> at 14:47; Video of oral argument is located at <https://media.sccourts.org/videos/2019-000041.mp4> at 35:30).

*Even after* the Supreme Court directed the entry of the Thoennes Judgment, Appellants did not file a Petition for Rehearing to raise the issue of the purported release of that judgment resulting from the 2016 Agreement (which, though untimely, would have at least created some record that Appellants believed a mistake had been made and a major legal defense to a \$1,000,000 judgment had been overlooked). *See Kennedy v. S.C. Ret. Syst.*, 349 S.C. at 532, 564 S.E.2 at 322 (“The purpose of a petition for rehearing is not to present points which lawyers for the losing parties have overlooked or misapprehended, nor is it the purpose of the petition for rehearing to have the case tried in the appellate court a second time.”)

Had Appellants believed that the 2016 Agreement was a complete release of the Thoennes Judgment, for all purposes, they would have raised that issue to this Court and to the Supreme Court, *and were required to do so to preserve that argument*. They did not raise the issue because neither Appellants, nor their lawyers, believed that the effect of the 2016 Agreement was a total release of the Thoennes Judgment for all purposes.

In response to the waiver argument, Appellants raise a laundry list of nonsensical and red herring arguments about the fact that the HOA participated in drafting the 2016 Agreement and that the HOA failed to bring to the appellate courts’ attention that the Thoennes Judgment had been released. The Appellant states that “if Respondent did not believe it was required to file the Release of Judgment Lien in favor of Thoennes, it certainly should not have filed it.” (See Appellants Return to Mot. To Certify, Appellate Case No. 2022-001581, December 28, 2022). As noted in the HOA’s Supreme Court filing, the HOA did not bring to any court’s attention that the

Thoennes Judgment has been released, *because it was not released*. It would have been as wrong and as disingenuous for the HOA to say it as it is for the Appellants to say it. Again, as noted, a predicate to the Appellant's arguments is that the HOA knew that the Appellant believed the 2016 Agreement to be a complete release of the Thoennes Judgment, which is not even remotely true.

Next, Appellants falsely contend that they could not raise the issue relating to the 2016 Agreement until after the case was remanded. In truth, nothing prevented Appellants from alerting the appellate courts (and the HOA for that matter), that they believed the Thoennes Judgment had been fully released. An appellate court clearly can recognize the validity of a true settlement agreement affecting an appeal. This is obvious given that neither this Court nor the Supreme Court entered any judgments against Lollis, Cox, or IMK, or ruled on their appeals, since the judgment against Lollis and Cox had actually settled during the appeals process, which rendered their appellate issues moot. If it were true that the Thoennes Judgment had been completely released, the Appellants could have notified this Court and the Supreme Court of that fact, and neither would have ruled on Thoennes's appeals.

In support of their position, Appellants cite, and misconstrue, *Lancaster v. Georgia-Pacific Corp.*, 403 S.C. 136, 742 S.E.2d 867 (2013). However, as noted by Appellants brief, the *Lancaster* court stated:

Finally, because the issue of parties submitting agreements to the lower court while the matter is pending before this Court has arisen with increasing frequency of late, we hereby remind the bench and bar that action on a settlement may not be taken by the lower court, except with regard to matters not affected by the appeal, while the matter is pending before this Court. The parties must first seek to have the matter remanded to the lower court.

*Lancaster* 403 S.C. at 138, 742 S.E.2d at 868. Thus, if Appellants believed that the 2016 Agreement was a release of the Thoennes Judgment, for all purposes, and for some reason believed that they could not breathe a word of that to the appellate courts, they could have done just what

Lancaster, *mandates*; they could have, and should have if they truly believed this agreement to be a complete release, filed a motion with the circuit court and then moved to remand the matter for a determination of that issue.

In this case, during the earlier appeal, Appellants did not submit anything to the lower court regarding the 2016 Agreement, nor did Appellants seek a remand of the matter to the lower court so that a decision could be made by the lower court regarding the effect of the 2016 Agreement. As they did in the appellate courts, for six years, Appellants remained completely mum and utterly silent regarding their hidden belief that the 2016 Agreement was a release of the Thoennes Judgment for all purposes. Filing a 60(b)(5) motion with the Circuit Court in 2022 was completely untimely and should have been denied on that basis, along with the basis that the agreement in questions was not a complete release.

Appellants also note that the 2016 Agreement provides that it will not have effect on the pending appeals. This argument is facially ridiculous. If the 2016 Agreement was a full release of the Thoennes Judgment *for all purposes*, as Appellants now argue, there would not have been any point to any appeal with respect to that judgment, or the breach of fiduciary duty claim, unless the Appellants intent with the 2016 Agreement was to burden this Court and the Supreme Court with a completely meaningless appeal.

That the Appellants' arguments are frivolous is a charge that is supported not only by the lack of merit, but also by the actions taken in the federal court declaratory judgment actions. Nothing about *Lancaster*, or any Appellate Court Rule, could possibly be construed to have prevented the insurers from raising the 2016 Agreement as a total release of the Thoennes Judgment in the declaratory judgment action. Even in response to a motion for summary judgment filed by the HOA *seeking coverage for the Thoennes Judgment in 2018*, granted by District Court

Judge Hendricks, the Insurers did not say that the Thoennes Judgment had actually been released two years before. *See Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co.*, No. 8:14-CV-01906-BHH, 2019 WL 3945518 (D.S.C Aug. 21, 2019.) As noted previously, they did not raise it in the Fourth Circuit appeal until 2022 when it was rejected by the Fourth Circuit.

#### **IV. Public Policy Requires that Supreme Court Decisions Are Final.**

As noted, the Appellants have appealed the Circuit Court's entry of a judgment that was directed by the Supreme Court in a final decision. Appellants' efforts are against public policy and amount to a collateral attack on a Supreme Court order based on documents, evidence and legal arguments that were available to them during the pendency of the appeal.

If, after an appeal is final, parties are allowed to raise issues that could have been raised during an appeal in an effort to relitigate a Supreme Court order in a lower court, the door opens to never-ending appeals and no judgment is ever final. When the Supreme Court makes a ruling, a large majority of the public understands that to mean a final decision has been reached *and that must be so*. *See Adoptive Couple v. Baby Girl*, 404 S.C. 483, 487, 746 S.E.2d 51 (2013) (“We find the clear import of the Supreme Court's majority opinion to foreclose successive petitions, for litigation must have finality...”). Allowing for frivolous appeals and stalling tactics would fly directly in the face of achieving that confidence.

Here, after six years of appeals, the Supreme Court ruled upon the Thoennes Judgment. That judgment is final and cannot be subsequently voided, changed, or ignored by the Circuit Court, by Thoennes, his counsel or his insurance companies, no matter how much they do not like it. A Supreme Court order cannot be collaterally attacked based on a document or legal arguments that existed but were not raised before the final Order. All that does it provide for an endless supply of stalling tactics for Appellants and undermines the Supreme Courts authority.

**V. The Supreme Court's Order for Remittitur was a Final Judgment of the Matter and Ordered the Circuit Court to Enter Judgment.**

Appellants characterize the Supreme Court's decision as a remittitur to correct mathematical errors. Rather, the Supreme Court issued a final decision on the validity of the Thoennes Judgment, declared the amount of that judgment and ruled that the set-off of the pre-trial Phase I settlements did not apply to it. It also ordered entry of that judgment and it was the Circuit Courts job to enforce those judgements, which it properly did.

**VI. The Trial Court did Not Commit legal Error in Regard to the Amount of Setoff to Which Marick was Entitled.**

**A. The Trial Court Stated in its Order that it Would Hear and Rule on Set-Off.**

The Appellants contend that the Trial Court committed legal error by failing to rule on the amount of setoff to which Marick was entitled. To the contrary, in its order, the Circuit Court held that "[t]he judgment against Thoennes may or may not be subject to set-off or release, which may be subject of argument after entry of judgment." Ct. Order, June 24, 2022, 2009-CP-37-00652. The only reason that no ruling was made with respect to setoff is that Appellants filed this appeal before the Circuit Court had the opportunity to schedule a hearing allowing for briefs on the issue of set-off. The only one to blame for there not being a ruling on the set-off are the Appellants themselves.

**B. The Settlement of Larry Lollis Cannot be Applied to the Negligence and Warranty judgments.**

Though it was not ruled on by the Circuit court, since Appellants raised the issue of set-off, the HOA will address it here. Appellants argue that money paid by Lollis (\$500,000.00) to settle the Breach of fiduciary duty judgment against him should be applied to the judgments for negligence and breach of implied warranty against Marick. The only judgment against Larry Lollis (or Cox) was on the breach of fiduciary judgment cause of action for \$1,000,000.

As reflected above, after the jury verdict, which allocated separate awards for the three separate causes of action, the HOA asked the Trial Court to re-allocated that verdict and apply the total amount of the judgments, \$5,000,000, to each of the causes of action, and to equally apply the set-ff from the pre-trial settlements. The trial court complied with that request, giving all defendants the benefit of the set-off.

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